

Victorian Early Years Learning and Development Framework

Evidence Paper

Practice Principle 7: Assessment for learning and development

Authored for the Department of Education and Early Childhood Development by Rachel Flottman, Lucinda Stewart & Collette Tayler

Practice Principle 7: Assessment for learning and development

The Victorian Early Years Learning and Development Framework guides early childhood professionals' practice in Victoria. The Victorian Framework identifies eight Practice Principles for Learning and Development (Practice Principles). The Practice Principles are based on the P-12 Principles of Learning and Teaching, the pedagogy from the national Early Years Learning Framework, and are informed by the latest research.

The Practice Principles are interrelated and designed to inform each other. They are categorised as Collaborative, Effective and Reflective:

Collaborative

- 1. Family-centred practice
- 2. Partnerships with professionals
- 3. High expectations for every child

Effective

- 4. Equity and diversity
- 5. Respectful relationships and responsive engagement
- 6. Integrated teaching and learning approaches
- 7. Assessment for learning and development

Reflective

8. Reflective practice

These Evidence Papers document the research that underpins each Practice Principle. The content of the Evidence Papers will be developed into a series of practical guides – Practice Principles in Practice – that will provide practical advice to early childhood professionals on how to align their practice to the Practice Principles.

Practice Principle 7: Assessment for learning and development

Contents

Executive Summary4
Introduction6
What do we mean by 'assessment for learning and development'?7
Why is assessment important in early childhood learning and development?8
Assessment as learning helps to make children's learning visible to themselves9
The process of assessment can empower families as key agents in their child's
learning9
How do we achieve best practice?10
Effective assessment values cultural perspectives of children's learning10
Effective assessment incorporates children's views on their learning10
Effective assessment takes families' perspectives into account11
Effective assessment is meaningful for children when it is authentic11
Effective assessment uses multiple approaches that are appropriate for each child's
competency12
Multiple that assessments occur over time and are holistic contribute to a complete
picture of each child13
Professionals take objective, non-judgemental and accurate assessments of children's
learning and development14
Implications for achieving the best outcomes for children
Methodology
References

Executive Summary

The Victorian Early Years Learning and Development Framework (2009) recognises the importance of early childhood professionals undertaking assessment as a core part of effective practice. Early childhood professionals assess children's learning and development to develop a strong understanding of each child's strengths, abilities and interests. The information that professionals collect and analyse through the assessment process informs the decisions they make to advance children's learning and development.

Early childhood professionals approach assessment in different ways. Early childhood educators routinely take observations to better understand children's strengths, abilities and interests. Maternal and Child Health nurses undertake assessments of children's health and development according to the Key Age and Stage Framework. Allied health professionals working in early childhood intervention services use a range of professional and clinical assessment tools to identify children's strengths and design programs that best support each child's learning and development.

Assessment practice can be arranged into three categories: assessment *for* learning; assessment *of* learning and assessment *as* learning. Assessment *for* learning involves professionals analysing data about the child's strengths, abilities and interests and making inferences from it which assists them to make decisions about programs for children every day. Assessment *for* learning is identified in the literature as essential to improving outcomes for young children. Assessment *of* learning assists professionals to develop a picture of each child's strengths, abilities and interests at a point in time. Finally, assessment *as* learning occurs when information about children's own learning and development progress is provided to them as feedback on their learning activity. Assessment *as* learning is identified in the literature as important in supporting children's self-efficacy and self-esteem.

Effective assessment is responsive to individual children. That is, it involves tools and approaches that are appropriate to individual children and are undertaken in settings familiar to them. They must also be undertaken regularly and multiple times to ensure a more accurate picture is generated at a point in time, but also so that growth and progress are captured. Importantly, as children are active participants in their own learning and families are experts on their own children, effective assessment processes must include children and families' views of learning, as well as other professionals' views as appropriate.

The implications for practice informed by the research and detailed in this Paper are:

- Early childhood professionals require the knowledge and skills to undertake non-judgemental assessments of children's learning and development
- Assessment needs to be undertaken collaboratively with children, families and professionals
- A culture of evidence-based program and practice decisions must be promoted
- Effective assessment is dynamic and ongoing, just as children's learning and development is dynamic
- A systematic and rigorous approach is needed to support systematic assessment of children's learning and development across services

Introduction

The Victorian Early Years Learning and Development Framework recognises the importance of early childhood professionals assessing children's learning and development to provide essential information about a child's abilities, interests and culture to inform their practice and program decision-making. It states that:

Assessment is designed to discover what children know and understand, based on what they make, write, draw, say and do. Early childhood professionals assess the progress of children's learning and development, what children are ready to learn and how they can be supported.

All children benefit when assessment reflects a whole-child approach, providing an holistic view of learning and development. Early childhood professionals use a range of assessment tools, processes and approaches to build on prior learning, avoid duplication and add value. Early childhood professionals understand that families play a vital role in their children's learning and development.

Early childhood professionals are aware of the health and wellbeing of the family when planning for the child's learning and development. Early childhood professionals assess children's learning in ways that:

- inform their practice
- include children's views of their own learning
- are authentic and responsive to how children demonstrate their learning and development
- draw on families' perspectives, knowledge, experiences and expectations
- consider children in the context of their families and provide support to families when necessary
- value the culturally specific knowledge embedded within communities about children's learning and development
- are transparent and objective, and provide families with information about their children's learning and development, and about what they can do to further support their children
- gather and analyse information from a wide range of sources to help them assess and plan effectively
- provide the best possible advice and guidance to children and their families.

(VEYLDF p. 13)

Assessment in early childhood is not a new practice. Early childhood professionals use a range of assessment tools to identify children's interactions, conversations, ideas and expressions in order to better understand each child's strengths, abilities

and interests. Early childhood educators often use observation techniques to record children's learning. Allied health professionals, such as maternal and child health nurses and early intervention professionals, are experienced at using clinical assessment tools to understand a child's capabilities and possible development and health needs, also with the view to designing a program of support to promote that child's learning and development.

Recent evidence reinforces the effectiveness of objective and systematic assessments of children's learning and development undertaken by early childhood professionals in order to inform responsive programs that support children's learning and development.

This Evidence Paper explores research related to assessment practice in the context of early childhood services. Specifically it will describe why assessment is an important feature of effective practice; how early childhood professionals can integrate assessment into their daily work with children; and what the implications of the research are for practice.

What do we mean by 'assessment for learning and development'?

Assessment practice in education and care can be arranged into three categories: assessment *of* learning and development; assessment *for* learning and development and assessment *as* learning.

Assessment of learning and development is the most common form of assessment. This is assessment of a child's learning at a particular point in time, and that summarises all of the learning and development that has preceded it (Taras, 2005). This kind of assessment can be large-scale assessment in a particular field, such as the National Assessment Program – Literacy and Numeracy (NAPLAN), in which an entire population of children is assessed using a common assessment tool. It can also be a small scale assessment within an individual early childhood setting with the purpose of clarifying a child's learning in order to report that learning to families (Earl, 2003) – for example, Transition Learning and Development Statements.

Assessment for learning and development refers to the formative assessment that takes place in order for decisions to be made to inform the next stage of learning (Earl, 2003). As assessment for learning informs program planning decisions about individual children, assessments need to be taken on an ongoing and individual basis. Assessment for learning assists early childhood professionals to make decisions about learning programs for children every day and is identified in the literature as essential for improving outcomes for children.

Within the formative assessment process, early childhood professionals gather evidence of children's learning and development, based on what they write, draw, make, say and do. They analyse this evidence and make inferences from it by applying their knowledge of child development theory, the child's social and cultural background and their knowledge of the five Learning and Development Outcomes in the curriculum frameworks (VEYLDF, Early Years Learning Framework, My Time Our Place: Framework for School Age Care). They also discuss their interpretation with the child and the child's family, as well as other professionals when appropriate, to develop a strong picture of the child's strengths, abilities and interests. Early childhood professionals then use this information to design effective programs for children that are responsive and evidence-based (Hattie, 2009).

Assessment *as* learning and development occurs when the child is involved in the assessment process. Through this process the child has the opportunity to monitor what they are learning and use feedback to make adjustments to their understandings (Earl, 2003). Assessment as learning is linked to higher levels of self-efficacy in children as they see a reward for their learning effort (OECD/ CERI, 2008).

Assessment practice can be both formal and informal. Formal assessments typically involve reliable and valid standardised testing (Brown and Rolfe, 2005). Informal assessments, on the other hand include non-standardised testing and the performance on these assessments is not compared with other children (Brown and Rolfe, 2005). They typically include interviews with children and work sampling, and observation techniques such as running records, anecdotal records, checklists, rating scales and event and time sampling (MacNaughton, Rolfe and Siraj-Blatchford, 2010; NAEYC, 2009). All of these assessment tools are designed to gather information about the progress of children's learning and development (Mindes, 2003) and are used to make children's learning and development visible (Tayler, et al., 2008).

Why is assessment important in early childhood learning and development?

It is now recognised that age alone is not an adequate indicator of a child's skill or capability. There is substantial evidence of the large degree of variation between individual children's cognitive, social and emotional functioning and the impact of children's culture and environment on their knowledge, skills and understandings (Brainerd, 1978; Feldman, 1980; Raban et al., 2007). Early childhood professionals, therefore, cannot simply rely on children's age to determine their capabilities and make appropriate and responsive program decisions. It is for this reason that assessment is so important. Through the process of assessment, professionals

collect evidence of each child's learning and development and analyse and interpret it to make program and intervention decisions for extending the child's learning and development in the future (Bagnato, 2010).

Within this broad rationale for assessment in early childhood, the literature identifies a range of specific purposes of assessment: monitoring children's learning and development progress; making decisions about programs to advance learning and development; identifying children who may benefit from special support or intervention; communicating a child's learning and development with families and other professionals; involving families in planning children's learning in a meaningful way; and evaluating program effectiveness; (Appl, 2000; Bagnato, 2010; Beaty, 2002; Copple and Bredekamp 2006).

Assessment as learning helps to make children's learning visible to themselves

The evidence of children's learning gathered through the assessment process can be used powerfully to communicate and make children's own learning visible to them (Carr, 2001). This is useful in promoting children's own self-efficacy – that is, belief in their own ability to take actions that will achieve their goals – as they can see returns and progress for their learning efforts (Uszynska-Jarmoc, 2007). Assessment also supports collaborative practice with children to set challenging learning goals. In this way, assessment is not a one-way process whereby children learn and early childhood professionals assess, but is a dynamic process through which professionals and children learn, analyse and adapt (Kozulin and Falik, 1995).

The process of assessment can empower families as key agents in their child's learning

Early childhood professionals routinely work in partnership with children's families and provide valuable information to them about their child's learning and development (Brown and Bortoli, 2010). Families are in a unique position to provide understanding and evidence of their own children's learning abilities (Alasuutari, 2010). The information early childhood professionals collect through the assessment process can also be translated to families to communicate the progress of their child's learning and development (NAEYC, 2009), and support families to build on that learning. Puckett and Black (2008) and Snow and Van Helem (2008) support this, suggesting that assessments that determine the individual strengths and needs of children are particularly useful for families.

How do we achieve best practice?

Effective assessment values cultural perspectives of children's learning

Children's learning and development is informed by their culture, values and experiences. Moreover, cultural background and language significantly influence the knowledge and vocabulary children have developed. Cultural background and language also frame how, and upon what, children can be appropriately assessed (Gullo, 2005). Professionals therefore need to be aware of children and their family's cultural context. On this basis Appl (2000) suggests that approaches used for assessing children need to be culturally sensitive and interesting to children. Using assessment tools that are culturally, linguistically and developmentally appropriate assists the assessment process to be authentic. Further, the assessment process is facilitated when children's interests and daily activities are the base for collecting relevant evidence of the child's learning (Baldwin et al., 2009; Gullo 2005). It is also important that professionals take account of children's cultural context when analysing and interpreting the assessment data, so that an accurate picture is developed.

Effective assessment incorporates children's views on their learning

The Early Years Learning Framework advocates that children are active participants in their own learning (DEEWR, 2009). It is important, therefore, that children are given the opportunity to actively contribute to assessments of their learning and receive feedback on their learning (Seitz and Bartholomew, 2008). There are a number of ways that children's participation can be facilitated.

Shared sustained thinking can provide opportunities for incorporating children's views on their learning into formative assessment. Shared sustained thinking is an open-ended context for exploratory learning in which 'two or more individuals 'work together' in an intellectual way to solve a problem, clarify a concept, evaluate activities, or extend a narrative' (Sylva et al., 2010). When children describe, explain and justify their thinking to others in shared sustained thinking, they develop meta-cognition and 'learn to learn' (Siraj-Blatchford, 2009). Shared sustained thinking provides opportunities for formative assessment because it enables early childhood professionals to build an understanding of children's learning in order to make curriculum decisions.

Research also indicates that effective assessment involves children having the time to express their opinions about what is recorded about their learning (Glazzard et al., 2010). According to the NAEYC (2009) children's own evaluations of their work are an important part of their individual assessment.

Other research suggests that there is great value in the feedback children receive on their own learning through the assessment process. Puckett and Black (2008) suggest that early childhood professionals should assist children to reflect on their own learning as well as assist them to set individual goals. Tayler and colleagues (2008) agree that children have the capacity not only to monitor their own progress but to form goals and shape their own future learning. Through feedback and interactions children are able to self-assess and form views about themselves as an effective learner (Tayler et al., 2008).

Effective assessment takes families' perspectives into account

Families play an essential role in their child's learning and development and are a valuable source of information about their children (Baldwin et al., 2009; Gullo, 2005; Wortham, 2008). Family's perspectives are particularly useful in providing information regarding a child's history, culture, disposition and abilities in different settings (Brink, 2002). They can also provide information about children's behaviour and learning in different settings. This is important with very young children, particularly in relation to temperament and behaviour (Neisworth and Bagnato, 2004). Including and valuing family perspectives in assessment, therefore, is a key feature of effective assessment (Glazzard et al., 2010, Grisham-Brown et al., 2006). This helps to develop the most accurate image of each child (Brink, 2002; Wortham, 2008). Further emphasising the importance of family's involvement in the assessment process is the clear evidence that family involvement in their children's education has a positive impact on their children's overall learning and development (Beaty, 2002).

Building effective partnerships often requires early childhood professionals to initiate and promote connections and relationships with families. They can do this by reflecting on how much they value the contribution of parents to assessment and whether they consider parents as partners in children's education (Glazzard et al., 2010). Early childhood professionals who genuinely seek to understand families' perspectives about learning and their children are better prepared to be responsive within the family-professional collaboration (Puckett and Black, 2008). Carr and Harris (2001) support this view, suggesting that the best educational climate is collaborative. See Evidence Paper 1: Family-Centred Practice for more information on working collaboratively with families.

Effective assessment is meaningful for children when it is authentic

Assessments are most accurate and meaningful for children when they are conducted in the child's natural environment, are part of everyday learning experiences, and when they provide opportunities for feedback along the way (Hatch, 2010; Grisham-Brown et al., 2006). Authentic assessments capture children's competencies and incremental developments in their skills (Baldwin et

al., 2009). Glazzard and colleagues (2010) agree that assessing children based on observations in their environment through independent learning and adult-directed learning is an effective assessment process for developing a comprehensive picture of the child's capabilities.

Authentic assessments provide an opportunity for assessment that is free of the adult's own agenda. They are conducted in a variety of contexts such as home and care settings where children are familiar and comfortable in the environment (Losardo and Notari-Syverson, 2001) and are able to use familiar materials that are of interest to them. This helps to facilitate and maintain children's own participation in the assessment (Losardo and Notari-Syverson, 2001). This form of assessment is also effective because it provides children with opportunities to demonstrate their skills across the various developmental domains and varying contexts (Losardo and Notari-Syverson, 2001). This contributes to more accurate assessment. Children's abilities are best displayed in environments where the child is most comfortable, providing familiarity while giving attention to culturally appropriate materials (Losard and Notari-Syverson, 2001).

Making assessment meaningful for children involves using tools that are appropriate for the child to use (Copple and Bredekamp, 2006). This includes measures which allow for the full range of children's competencies to be recorded (Bagnato, 2007). Essentially, using measures that children are interested in is the best approach to assessment and will yield the most valid information (Copple and Bredekamp, 2006). Using informal measures that do not significantly interfere with children's normal environments and movements is most likely to reflect children's full capabilities and understandings (Copple and Bredekamp, 2006).

Effective assessment uses multiple approaches that are appropriate for each child's competency

Children learn and demonstrate their learning in many ways, and should therefore be observed using a variety of tools and approaches and in a variety of contexts (Gullo, 2005). The NAEYC (2009) states that assessment is most effective when multiple methods are used to gather reliable and appropriate information about a child's learning and development (NAEYC, 2009). There is wide consensus in the research literature that a variety of formal and informal assessment tools give early childhood professionals and families a comprehensive view of children's learning and development (Brown and Rolfe, 2005; Glazzard et al., 2010; Grisham-Brown et al., 2006; Wortham, 2008). Moreover, Rinaldi (2006) suggests that when educators and families combine their shared understandings, new understandings emerge that would not be possible from separate perspectives.

Hatch (2010) suggests that dynamic assessments enable effective assessment of young children. Dynamic assessment involves assessing what children are capable of doing independently as well as what they can do with the assistance of an adult. This creates a direct link between the teaching and assessment process (Hatch, 2010). With this in mind, assessments should be context and age appropriate, but they should also recognise the current capabilities (Gullo, 2005) and culture (Fleer, 2002) of each child. Copple and Bredekamp (2006) agree, stating that age appropriateness combined with assessments across different situations and settings are likely to ensure more effective assessment practice. Recognising the idiosyncratic nature of learning, Puckett and Black (2008) also suggest that children should only be compared to their own developmental trajectory rather than compared to the average behaviour for a group.

Multiple that assessments occur over time and are holistic contribute to a complete picture of each child

Assessment for learning and development needs to take place continually, in more than one activity or setting, in order to generate a more accurate picture of each child's abilities. This allows for the dynamic and ongoing nature of children's learning, but also recognises that children will behave in different ways, in different contexts and on different days (Sattler, 1998). By gathering data across a period of time, early childhood professionals gather a complete picture of each child's capabilities and record change and growth over time (Allen, 2007). By collecting these data as they occur over time, early childhood professionals can later apply their professional knowledge to analyse the evidence to create a detailed picture of the child's capabilities (Bagnato, 2007). From this rich source of evidence, professionals can make accurate inferences about each child's capabilities and their rate of learning and development. These inferences can serve to inform an evidence-based program that advances each child's learning and development.

Gullo (2005) states the need for continual and comprehensive (or holistic) assessment. Continual assessment occurs when children are assessed over time with the view of tracking their progress. Baldwin, Adams and Kelly (2009) highlight the importance of continual assessment for the purposes of making decisions about individual development, learning programs and further assessment. Copple and Bredekamp (2006) agree that ongoing assessment of children' progress is central to planning and helps early childhood professionals to know the children with whom they work.

Holistic assessment allows early childhood professionals to explore and assess the many aspects of children's learning and development in different contexts, environments and relationships. Holistic assessment enables professionals to develop a strong picture of the child's learning and development across all outcome areas.

Professionals take objective, non-judgemental and accurate assessments of children's learning and development

To be effective in gathering evidence of children's learning and development, early childhood professionals need to be effective, accurate and informed observers (Mindes, 2003). It is important that the evidence collected through various forms of assessment reflects each child's abilities, and how they approach learning, as well as the outcomes of their efforts (Puckett and Black, 2008). Early childhood professionals, therefore, must be able to effectively observe children, choose the best method to record these observations and apply their professional expertise to interpret this evidence of learning and development (Mindes, 2003). The observation skills of early childhood professionals are essential in providing a base for a supported and responsive curriculum (Baldwin et al., 2009); this includes the ability to critically reflect on the methods of observation (MacNaughton, 2003).

Implications for achieving the best outcomes for children

1. Early childhood professionals require the knowledge and skills to undertake non-judgemental assessment

Although early childhood professionals, in particular educators, are experienced at taking observations of children, a more robust, systematic and objective style of assessment is called for within the VEYLDF. Early childhood professionals should access clear information on *what* and *when* to assess. Further, they need to develop skills in taking objective assessments through recording what children actually do, say, make write or draw, analysing the data and making informed inferences from this based on their professional knowledge and knowledge of the VEYLDF.

2. Assessment needs to be undertaken collaboratively with children, families and professionals

Children are active participants in their own learning and co-construct knowledge with early childhood professionals. Families are experts in their own children and bring with them a great deal of insight into their children's strengths, abilities and interests. Embedding child and family perspectives of learning and developing into the assessment process is therefore essential for effective practice.

3. A culture of evidence-based practice decisions must be promoted

Strong leadership within early childhood settings supports early childhood professionals to use analyse evidence of children's learning and development effectively and to draw clear inferences from it. Early childhood professionals need to be able to work collaboratively with their colleagues and other professionals who support children in order to develop a complete picture of each child and form a clear view about planning for development. They must also be supported to explain the assessment process to families, working collaboratively with them in the learning process.

4. Effective assessment is dynamic and ongoing, like children's learning and development

Children's learning and development is dynamic and ongoing. Their behaviour, interests and capabilities vary with different people, different settings and on different days. Children experience periods of rapid growth and change, and they experience periods of consolidation where it may appear that little is happening. Assessment processes need to reflect the dynamism and ongoing nature of children's learning and development. This means that early childhood professionals document evidence of children's learning regularly, and when making inferences from the data, consider evidence collected from a range of settings using a range of assessment tools.

5. A systematic and rigorous approach is needed to support systematic assessment of children's learning and development across services

Early childhood professionals are experienced at collecting evidence of children's learning and development through anecdotal records such as observations, learning stories, and running records. Snow and van Hemel (2008), however, advocate for the application of a more systematic and rigorous form of assessing children's learning and development. This process would see children's learning and development being assessed across the services in which they participate, giving a more complete picture of their learning and developmental trajectory. This requires collaboration between early childhood professionals and a mutual acknowledgement of expertise and varying professional approaches to creating and using assessment for learning and development (Ashton et al., 2008).

Methodology

This Paper is based on a review of national and international literature published over the last twenty years. Literature was obtained by using the University of Melbourne's on-line database. Where journal articles cited older references that appeared to be relevant to the topic at hand, these references were also investigated, whether primary or secondary research material. Also, longitudinal studies and theories of early childhood education were explored as their relevance became apparent through the research.

Peer reviewed ratings of "very good" and "excellent" were prioritised.
Databases searched:
A+ Education (Informit)
Web of Science
PsycINFO
Academic Search Premier (EBSCO)
ERIC (CSA)
Web of Science
JSTOR
Wiley Interscience Journals

The following search terms were used:

- assessment for learning and development
- assessment for teaching
- authentic assessment
- progress monitoring
- effective planning and programming

•

The search terms were combined with the keywords 'early childhood' and 'children' to limit results to literature relevant to this paper.

References

- Alasuutari, M. (2010). Striving at partnership: parent-practitioner relationships in Finnish early educators' talk. *European Early Childhood Education Research*, 18(2), 12.
- Allen, S. F. (2007) Assessing the development of young children in child care: A survey of formal assessment practices in one state, *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 34(6), 455-465.
- Appl, D. J. (2000). Clarifying the preschool assessment process: Traditional practices and alternative approaches. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 27(4), 219-225.
- Ashton, J., Woodrow, C., Johnston, C., Wangmann, J., Singh, L., & James, T. (2008). Partnerships in learning: Linking early childhood services, families and schools for optimal development. *Australian Journal of Early Childhood*, *33*(2), 10-16.
- Bagnato, S. J., Neisworth, J. T., Pretti-Frontczak, K. (2010). *LINKing Authentic Assessment and Early Childhood Intervention*. Ohio: Kent State University.
- Bagnato, S. J. (2007). Authentic assessment for early childhood intervention: Best practices. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Baldwin, J. L., Adams, S. M., & Kelly, M. K. (2009). Science at the center: An emergent, standards-based, child-centred framework for early learners. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 37(1), 71-77.
- Beaty, J. J. (2002). *Observing development of the young child*. New Jersey, USA: Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Brainerd, C. J. (1978). The stage question in cognitive-developmental theory. *The Behavioural and Brain Sciences*, 2 173-213.
- Brink, M. (2002). Involving parents in early childhood assessment: Perspectives from an early intervention instructor. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 29(4), 251-257.
- Brown, J., & Rolfe, S. A. (2005). Use of child development assessment in early childhood education: Early childhood practitioner and student attitudes towards formal and informal testing. *Early Child Development and Care*, 175(3), 193-202.
- Brown., P. M., & Bortoli., A. M. (2010). Family-centered assessment. In E. A. Rhoades. & J. Duncan. (Eds.), *Auditory-verbal practice*. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas Publisher Ltd.
- Carr, M (2001) Assessment in early childhood settings: Learning stories, effective early learning. London: Paul Chapman Publishing
- Carr, J. F., & Harris, D. E. (2001). Succeeding with standards: Linking curriculum, assessment and action planning. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision
- Copple, C., & Bredekamp, S. (2006). *Basics of developmentally appropriate practice: An introduction for teachers of children 3 to 6*. Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Department of Education and Early Childhood Development (2009). Victorian Early Years Learning and Development Framework, State Government of Victoria, East Melbourne.
- Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations (2009). *Early Years Learning Framework for Australia*, Commonwealth Government of Australia, ACT.
- Earl, L. (2003). Assessment as learning: Using classroom assessment to maximise student learning. Corwin Press: Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Feldman, D. H. (1980). Beyond universals in cognitive development. Norwood, NJ: Ablex.

- Fleer, M. (2002). 'Sociocultural Assessment in Early Years Education--myth or reality?' *International Journal of Early Years Education*. 10(2) pp 105-120
- Glazzard, J., Chadwick, D., Webster, A., Percival, J. (2010). Assessment for learning in the Early Years Foundation Stage. London: Sage.
- Grisham-Brown, J., Hallam, R., & Brookshire, R. (2006). Using authentic assessment to evidence children's progress toward early learning standards. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *34* (1), 45-51.
- Gullo, D. F. (2005). *Understanding assessment and evaluation in early childhood education*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Hatch, A, J. (2010). Rethinking the relationship between learning and development: Teaching for learning in early childhood classrooms. *The Educational Forum*, 74(3), 258-268.
- Hattie, J. (2009). Visible Learning a synthesis of over 800 meta-analyses relating to achievement. Abingdon, England: Routledge
- Kozulin, A. and Falik, L. (1995). Dynamic cognitive assessment of the child. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 4(1), 192-196.
- Losardo, A., & Notari-Syverson, A. (2001). Alternative Approaches to Assessing Young Children. Maryland, USA: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.
- MacNaughton, G. (2003). Shaping Early Childhood. England: Open University Press.
- MacNaughton, G.; Rolfe, S., & Siraj-Blatchford, I. (Eds). (2010). *Doing early childhood research: International perspectives on theory and practice* (2nd Edition). Allen & Unwin and McGraw Hill.
- Mindes, G. (2003). Assessing young children. Columbus, Ohio: Merrill.
- National Association for the Education of Young Children: NAEYC. (2009). *Developmentally Appropriate Practice for Early Childhood Programs Serving Birth through Age 8*. Retrieved January 21, 2011, from http://www.naeyc.org/files/naeyc/file/positions/PSDAP.pdf
- Neisworth, J.T, & Bagnato, S.J. (2004). The mismeasure of young children. *Infants and Young Children*, 17(3), 198-212.
- OECD/ CERI. (2008). Assessment for Learning formative assessment. Retrieved on 10 January 2012 from http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/19/31/40600533.pdf
- Puckett, M. B., & Black, J. K. (2008). *Meaningful assessments of the young child: Celebrating development and learning*. New Jersey, US: Pearson Education Inc.
- Raban, B. Nolan, A. Waniganayake, M. Ure, C. Brown, R. Deans, J. (2007) *Building Capacity strategic professional development for early childhood practitioners*. South Melbourne, Australia: Thomson Social Science Press
- Rinaldi, C. (2006). *In Dialogue with Reggio Emilia: Listening, Researching and Learning*. New York, USA: Routledge.
- Sattler, D. N. (1998). The need principle in social dilemmas. *Journal of Social Behavior and Personality*, 13, 667-678.
- Seitz, H., & Bartholomew, C. (2008). Powerful portfolios for young children. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 36, 63-68.
- Siraj-Blatchford, I. (2009). Conceptualising progression in the pedagogy of play and sustained shared thinking in early childhood education: a Vygotskian perspective. *Educational and Child Psychology*, 26(2), 77-89.
- Sylva, K., Melhuish, E., Sammons, P., Siraj-Blatchford, I., Taggart, B. (2010). *Early Childhood Matters. Evidence from the Effective Pre-School and Primary Education Project.* Oxon, U.K.: Routledge.

- Snow, C. E. and Van Hemel, S (2008). *Early childhood assessment: Why, what, how.* National Research Council: Washington, DC.
- Taras, M (2005) Assessment summative and formative some theoretical reflections. *British Journal of Educational Studies*. 53(4) 466-478
- Tayler, C., Ure, C., Brown, R., Deans, J., & Cronin, B. (2008). Victorian Early Years Learning and Development Framework and the Victorian Essential Learning Standards. Discussion Paper, Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority, 12 December 2008.
- Uszynska-Jarmoc, (2007). Self-esteem and different forms of thinking in seven and nine-year-olds. *Early Child Development and Care*, 177(4), 337-348.
- Wortham, S. C. (2008). Assessment in early childhood education. New Jersey: Pearson.

Melbourne Graduate School of Education

Level 2, Alice Hoy Building The University of Melbourne Victoria 3010 Australia Telephone: +61 3 8344 8285 Facsimile: +61 3 8344 8529 www.education.unimelb.edu.au

